




































































obtaining safety data based on patient complication rates as reported to Synthes by surgeons

performing vertebroplasty or kyphoplasty procedures to treat fractures of the vertebrae; and
b. shipped Norian XR in interstate commerce for the purpose of use in

vertebroplasty or kyphoplasty procedures to treat fractures of the vertebrae, an indication for

which Norian XR had not been cleared or approved by the FDA.

THE CONSPIRACY
80. From in or about May 2002 through at least fall 2004, in the Eastern District of

Pennsylvania and elsewhere, defendant

NORIAN CORPORATION,

together with others known and unknown to the grand jury, agreed, combined, and conspired to:

a. defraud the United States and its agencies by impeding, impairing, and
defeating the lawful functions of the FDA to protect the health and safety of the public by
ensuring that medical devices marketed and distributed in the United States were safe and
effective for their intended uses, that the labeling of such devices bore true and accurate
information, and that clinical investigation of significant risk devices on humans was overseen by
the FDA; and

b. commit an offense against the United States with the intent to defraud or
mislead, by introducing into interstate commerce an adulterated and misbranded medical device,
Norian XR, for the intended use of treating VCFs through vertebroplasty and kyphoplasty
procedures, when Norian XR had not received either pre-market approval or pre-market
clearance for that intended use, and when the label of Norian XR bore a warning that the device
was “not intended for treatment of vertebral compression fractures,” in violation of Title 21,
United States Code, Sections 331(a) and 333(a)(2); and

c. commit an offense against the United States by knowingly and willfully
making materially false, fictitious, and fraudulent statements and representations and falsifying
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and concealing material facts in a matter within the jurisdiction of the Food and Drug
Administration (“FDA”), an agency of the executive branch of the United States, in violation of

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001.

MANNER AND MEANS
It was part of the conspiracy that:

81.  Defendant NORIAN, Synthes, Michael D. Huggins and Thomas B. Higgins
developed Norian XR for the treatment of VCFs by adding barium sulfate to Norian SRS.

82.  Despite the SRS label, which as cleared by the FDA in December 2001 stated that
SRS was intended to fill only bony voids that were “not intrinsic to the stability of the bony
structure,” and further warned that SRS was not to be mixed with any other substance, defendant
NORIAN, Synthes, Michael D. Huggins, Thomas B. Higgins and Richard E. Bohner approved,
organized and sponsored an illegal vertebroplasty “test market” for SRS, that is, a “test market”
for the use on live persons of SRS back-table mixed with barium sulfate to treat VCFs.

83.  Despite the Norian XR label, which as cleared by the FDA in December 2002
stated that Norian XR was intended to fill only bony voids that were “not intrinsic to the stability
of the bony structure,” and further warned that Norian XR was “not intended for treatment of
vertebral compression fractures,” defendant NORIAN, Synthes, Michael D. Huggins, Thomas B.
Higgins, Richard E. Bohner and John J. Walsh approved, organized, sponsored and attended
surgeon forums at which spine surgeons were taught how to use Norian XR to treat VCFs.

84. Defendant NORIAN, Synthes, Michael D. Huggins, Thomas B. Higgins, Richard
E. Bohner and John J. Walsh conducted an unauthorized clinical trial of Norian XR for the
treatment of VCFs through an illegal “test market” in which defendant NORIAN and others sold
Norian XR to spine surgeons for the intended use of treating VCFs, and gathered safety and

efficacy information from those surgeons concerning their use of Norian XR in vertebroplasty
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and kyphoplasty surgeries to treat VCFs, in order to assess the complications rate of XR and
determine whether, in the defendant’s view, it was too high.

85. Defendant NORIAN, Synthes, Michael D. Huggins, Thomas B. Higgins, Richard
E. Bohner and John J. Walsh concealed from spine surgeons and from Synthes’s own Spine sales
force the warning bullet on the Norian XR label, “not intended for treatment of vertebral
compression fractures.”

86.  Defendant NORIAN, Synthes, Michael D. Huggins, Thomas B. Higgins, Richard
E. Bohner and John J. Walsh concealed from spine surgeons and from Synthes’s own Spine sales
force the pilot study test results indicating that a small amount of uncured Norian SRS and/or
Norian XR could accelerate blood clot formation if it escaped from bone into the venous
circulation.

87.  Defendant NORIAN, Synthes, Michael D. Huggins, Thomas B. Higgins and
Richard E. Bohner, without having medical professionals review the first death, failed and
refused to file an MDR problem report concerning the first death, in order to conceal the first
death from the FDA, from spine surgeons and from Synthes’s own Spine sales force.

88.  Defendant NORIAN, Synthes, Michael D. Huggins, Thomas B. Higgins, Richard
E. Bohner and John J. Walsh introduced into interstate commerce an adulterated and misbranded
medical device, Norian XR, for the intended use of treating VCFs through vertebroplasty and
kyphoplasty procedures.

89.  Defendant NORIAN, Synthes, Michael D. Huggins, Thomas B. Higgins, Richard
E. Bohner and John J. Walsh, without having medical professionals review the second or third
deaths, caused to be filed MDR problem reports with the FDA concerning the second and third
deaths, which reports were brief, vague and did not mention the terms “vertebroplasty,”
“kyphoplasty,” or “vertebral compression fracture” in order to conceal from the FDA and spine
surgeons the fact that the second and third deaths had occurred during surgeries to treat VCFs, in

which cement leakage had been noted.
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90.  After the third death, defendant NORIAN, Synthes, Michael D. Huggins, Thomas
B. Higgins, Richard E. Bohner and John J. Walsh failed and refused to recall and remove Norian
XR from the market and failed and refused to notify the FDA that Norian XR might pose a
significant risk to human safety, but instead unrestricted the inventory of Norian XR so that
Norian XR could be purchased by any surgeon or hospital.

91.  After the third death, having trained approximately fifty carefully selected spine
surgeons how to use Norian XR to treat VCFs, and having unrestricted the inventory of Norian
XR so that it could be purchased by any surgeon or hospital, defendant NORIAN, Synthes,
Michael D. Huggins, Thomas B. Higgins, Richard E. Bohner and John J. Walsh informed the
Spine sales force that Norian XR was not the subject of a recall and was not being pulled from
the market, all of which led to several additional off-label surgeries to treat VCFs in March and
April 2004.

92.  Inorder to lull the FDA, to impair and impede its lawful functions, including its
function of overseeing device manufacturers, and to avoid FDA scrutiny into the three deaths that
had occurred during the illegal “test market,” during May and June 2004 defendant NORIAN,
Synthes, Michael D. Huggins, Richard E. Bohner and John J. Walsh knowingly made a series of
false statements to an investigator for the FDA, in which they concealed their knowledge that
Norian XR and its predecessor device, Norian SRS, had each been marketed, promoted and
tested on human subjects without FDA oversight for the treatment of VCFs, an intended use that
had been neither cleared nor approved by the FDA.

93. In order further to lull the FDA, to impair and impede its lawful functions,
including its function of overseeing device manufacturers, and to avoid FDA scrutiny into the
three deaths that had occurred during the illegal “test market,” during July 2004 defendant
NORIAN, Synthes, Michael D. Huggins, Richard E. Bohner and John J. Walsh knowingly made
a series of false statements to the FDA in response to the FDA’s observations concerning the

inspection the FDA conducted in May and June 2004.
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OVERT ACTS

In furtherance of the conspiracy, defendant NORIAN, Synthes, Michael D. Huggins,
Thomas B. Higgins, John J. Walsh and others known and unknown to the grand jury, committed
the following overt acts in the Eastern District of Pennsylvania and elsewhere:

1. On various dates from in and about summer 2002 through fall 2002, Michael D.
Huggins, Thomas B. Higgins and Richard E. Bohner conducted an illegal “test market” for use of
SRS and the Cavity Creation System to treat VCFs, by:

a. directing employees of Synthes who are known and unknown to the
United States Attorney to create a recipe for mixing SRS with barium sulfate to make it more
radiopaque, a procedure commonly known as “back-table mixing;”

b. distributing the recipe for back-table mixing of SRS and barium sulfate to
spine surgeons for their use in vertebroplasty and kyphoplasty surgeries to treat VCFs;

c. training spine surgeons how to use SRS that had been back-table mixed
with barium sulfate in vertebroplasty and kyphoplasty surgeries to treat VCFs;

d. directing employees of Synthes to attend vertebroplasty and kyphoplasty
surgeries in which SRS mixed with barium sulfate was used to treat VCFs; and

e. gathering safety and efficacy information from spine surgeons who were
using SRS mixed with barium sulfate in vertebroplasty and kyphoplasty surgeries to treat VCFs.

2. On or about September 17, 2002, at a Spine MRB meeting, a Synthes Spine
employee made a presentation to Michael D. Huggins, Thomas B. Higgins, Richard E. Bohner,
and others to update them on (a) the Norian XR project; (b) the “Test Market that began in
September 2002” involving use of Norian SRS in the spine; and (c) “several additional studies to
be completed by [the University of Washington] Harborview in Seattle.”

3. On or about November 18, 2002, defendant NORIAN and Synthes caused a
Synthes regulatory employee to submit to the FDA the 510(k) submission for Norian XR without
the language requested by the FDA in the May 8, 2002 meeting, that is, without any labeling
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specifying that spinal load-bearing indications, such as vertebroplasty, were not included in
Norian XR’s indication for use.

4, On or about January 16, 2003, Michael D. Huggins, Richard E. Bohner and
Thomas B. Higgins held a meeting with Synthes Spine employees known and unknown to the
United States Attorney to approve a market introduction plan for Norian XR (“the Norian XR
MIP”) that described a supposed market for the use of Norian XR in the iliac crest, which is a
part of the hip, when, in fact, no such market existed or plan was intended.

5. On or about January 16, 2003, at the Norian XR MIP meeting, after a report was
made to the meeting participants about the January 13, 2003 death of Doctor No. 4°s patient
during a surgery using the Cavity Creation instruments to treat VCFs (hereafter the “first death™),
Michael D. Huggins, Thomas B. Higgins and Richard E. Bohner postponed approval of the
Norian XR MIP and directed that Doctor No. 4 be contacted to find out more information
concerning the first death.

6. On or about February 10, 2003, Michael D. Huggins, Thomas B. Higgins and
Richard E. Bohner reconvened the Norian XR MIP meeting with Synthes Spine employees and
others known and unknown to the United States Attorney, and approved the Norian XR MIP
described in the preceding two paragraphs.

7. In or about late April 2003, at a meeting of Synthes’s board of directors, Michael
D. Huggins approached a trauma surgeon who was also a member of Synthes’s board of directors
and who is known to the United States Attorney (Doctor No. 8), told Doctor No. 8 about the first
death, and about the two adverse hypotensive events that had occurred with Doctor No.1’s
patients, and obtained Doctor No. 8's agreement to participate in an upcoming “Safety Meeting”
concerning whether or not Norian XR was safe enough to bring to market.

8. On or about July 18, 2003, after having previously received written materials
concerning the pilot studies, the two adverse hypotensive events that had occurred with Doctor

No. 1’s patients, and details regarding the first death, Michael D. Huggins, Thomas B. Higgins
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and Richard E. Bohner held a “Safety Meeting” with Synthes Spine employees and others known
to the United States Attorney, including Doctor No. 8 (who participated by teleconference), for
the declared purpose of determining whether Norian XR was safe enough to bring to market.

9. On or about July 18, 2003, at the Safety Meeting, after hearing a presentation on
the pilot studies, the two adverse hypotensive events that had occurred with Doctor No.1’s
patients, and the first death, Michael D. Huggins, Thomas B. Higgins and Richard E. Bohner
decided to continue the illegal Norian XR “test market” that had begun in the summer of 2002
with SRS-R, in order to assess whether the level of risk from using Norian XR to treat VCFs was
acceptable or, instead, too high.

10.  On or about August 14, 2003, Michael D. Huggins and Thomas B. Higgins held a
strategic planning meeting attended by Doctor No. 3 and other doctors, both known and unknown
to the United States Attorney (the “Strategic Planning Meeting”).

11. On or about August 14, 2003, at the Strategic Planning Meeting, Michael D.
Huggins noted that Synthes had a “poor record of PMA approvals,” and Huggins and Thomas B.
Higgins directed that the illegal Norian XR “test market” would continue, despite a presentation
made at the meeting on vertebroplasty and Norian XR and a recommendation by Doctor No. 3
that an FDA study of Norian XR be conducted to gain approval for vertebroplasty.

12.  Onor about August 15 and 16, 2003, Michael D. Huggins, Thomas B. Higgins,
and Richard E. Bohner held the first surgeon training meeting of the illegal Norian XR “test
market” in San Diego, California (the “San Diego surgeon training’), which included Synthes
Spine sales representatives along with spine surgeons who were selected by Synthes based on
their experience in performing vertebroplasty, and whose expenses to travel to and attend the
training were paid for by Synthes.

13.  On or about August 15 and 16, 2003, at the San Diego surgeon training organized
by Michael D. Huggins, Thomas B. Higgins and Richard E. Bohner, lectures and powerpoint

presentations were given to the attendees concerning the use of Norian XR in vertebroplasty to
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treat VCFs, and a cadaver lab was held during which the surgeons injected Norian XR into the
vertebral bodies of cadavers.

14. On or about August 15 and 16, 2003, at the San Diego surgeon training, Synthes
Spine employees distributed notebooks to the attending spine surgeons and sales representatives
which thanked them for participating in the Norian XR “test market.” The notebooks included
forms® to be used in reordering Norian XR (“test market reorder forms” or “TM forms”), and
contained instructions to the sales representatives that they could not reorder Norian XR unless
they filled out the “test market” reorder forms with information about each surgery performed
with Norian XR.

15.  On or about September 16, 2003, Thomas B. Higgins invited a spine surgeon
known to the United States Attorney (Doctor No. 9) to give a lecture to the Spine sales force at
the Spine Annual Meeting, November 22-24, 2003, concerning the use of Norian XR in
vertebroplasty to treat VCFs.

16.  On or about September 19 and 20, 2003, Michael D. Huggins, Thomas B. Higgins
and Richard E. Bohner held the second surgeon training meeting of the illegal Norian XR “test
market” in Charlotte, North Carolina (the “Charlotte surgeon training”), attended by Higgins,
which followed a format identical in substance to the San Diego surgeon training, and which
again included spine surgeons selected by Synthes based on their experience in performing
vertebroplasty, and whose expenses to travel to and attend the training were paid for by Synthes.

17.  On or about September 23, 2003, defendant NORIAN and Synthes, through its
agents, Michael D. Huggins, Thomas B. Higgins, Richard E. Bohner and John J. Walsh, held a

meeting to discuss the second death, the death of Doctor No. 5°s patient, which had occurred on

3 The information that Synthes requested in the “test market” reorder forms

included whether the patient had a previous VCF; whether the bone was osteoporotic; the
number of levels treated (referring to levels of the vertebrae); the age of the fracture; the
percentage of compression; and whether postural reduction was attempted.
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September 19, 2003, with others known and unknown to the United States Attorney (the “second
death meeting”).

18.  On or about September 23, 2003, at the second death meeting, after a discussion
among the participants recognizing that Doctor No. 5 had “noted a cement leak during injection
and feels this was the cause of the incident,” and that, according to Doctor No. 5, “the sales
consultant ‘pushed’ this product on him and was unclear as to its status on the market,” Michael
D. Huggins, Thomas B. Higgins, Richard E. Bohner and John J. Walsh directed that a Synthes
Spine employee contact spine surgeons to obtain their views on the possible causes of the second
death; review complications of surgeries associated with the elderly patient population; and
research how many MDR problem reports had been filed concerning PMMA, vertebroplasty and
kyphoplasty.

19.  On or about October 15, 2003, the Synthes Spine employee reported back to
Michael D. Huggins, Thomas B. Higgins, Richard E. Bohner and John J. Walsh that:

a. the spine surgeons had been contacted to obtain their views on the
possible causes of the second death, and while “one surgeon out of 19 has decided not to use

k17

Norian XR until more information is available,” “no one is blaming Norian XR” (although these

surgeons were not informed about the pilot studies or the previous death);

b. elderly patients undergoing surgeries had “increased patient morbidity”;
and

c. numerous MDR problem reports had been filed regarding PMMA,
vertebroplasty and kyphoplasty.

20.  On or about October 24, 2003, defendant NORIAN and Synthes, through their
agents, held a meeting to plan the upcoming Norian XR surgeon training forums. At the October

24, 2003 meeting, which was attended not only by employees of Synthes but also by Doctor No.
4, Doctor No. 7 and Doctor No. 9, the participants agreed that:
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a. Synthes would “target spine surgeons as the primary attendees,” and spine
sales consultants would attend the forums with their surgeons; and

b. Doctor No. 4, Doctor No. 7 and Doctor No. 9 would serve as faculty
chairmen for the surgeon forums, which would include both lectures and cadaver labs.

21.  On or about November 22, 2003, Thomas B. Higgins caused a Synthes Spine
employee to make a presentation to the Spine sales force at the Spine Annual Meeting,
concerning Norian XR, during which the employee stated that Norian XR’s approved indications
included the spine but not vertebral compression fractures, but which was misleading in that the
employee did not disclose or otherwise state that Norian XR’s label bore the specific warning,
“not intended for treatment of vertebral compression fractures.”

22.  On or about November 24, 2003, Thomas B. Higgins caused Doctor No. 9 to
speak about vertebroplasty and Norian XR to the Spine sales force, at the Spine Annual Meeting.

23.  On or about December 10, 2003, Richard E. Bohner wrote a memorandum for
distribution to Spine sales consultants and managers, stating that Norian XR was intended only
for bony voids or defects that were not intrinsic to the stability of the bony structure, and that
Norian XR was intended to be placed or injected into bony voids in the extremities, spine and
pelvis, and warned against off-label promotion of Norian XR, but which did not disclose or
otherwise state the specific warning on Norian XR’s label, “not intended for treatment of
vertebral compression fractures.”

24.  On or about December 1, 2003, John J. Walsh approved the Norian XR
Technique Guide for release to the Spine sales force, despite the fact that the Technique Guide
did not disclose or otherwise state the specific warning on Norian XR’s label, “not intended for
treatment of vertebral compression fractures,” and notwithstanding the fact that the Technique
Guide contained x-rays of VCFs, some of which were x-rays of the spine (with depiction of
injected SRS) of Doctor No. 4’s patient who had died on the operating table when the doctor

used SRS that had been back-table mixed with barium sulfate in a surgery to treat VCFs.
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25.  Onor about December 31, 2003, defendant NORIAN and Synthes released
Norian XR for sale beyond the initial “test market.”

26.  On or about January 10 and 11, 2004, Michael D. Huggins, Thomas B. Higgins,
and Richard E. Bohner held the first surgeon forum following the illegal Norian XR “test
market” in Dallas, Texas (the “Dallas surgeon training”), at which they delegated to Doctor No. 4
the responsibility to inform the surgeons that Norian XR’s label bore the warning, “not intended
for treatment of vertebral compression fractures.”

27.  Onor about January 22, 2004, Thomas B. Higgins traveled to San Diego,
California, in order to attend the upcoming San Diego surgeon forum scheduled for January 23
through 25, 2004, which surgeon forum was cancelled early in the morning of January 23, 2004
after the third death, that is, the death of Doctor No. 7’s patient.

28, On or about February 12, 2004, defendant NORIAN, Synthes, Michael D.
Huggins, Thomas B. Higgins, Richard E. Bohner and John J. Walsh made the decision not to
recall or remove Norian XR from the market, but instead to unrestrict the inventory of Norian
XR, in order to continue marketing Norian XR despite their knowledge of its potentially harmful
effects.

29.  Onor about February 10, 2004, defendant NORIAN, Synthes, Michael D.
Huggins, Thomas B. Higgins, Richard E. Bohner and John J. Walsh sent or caused to be sent
“dear surgeon” letters to spine surgeons, admitting that use of Norian XR to treat VCFs was off-
label but explaining that such use was off-label because it was “intrinsic to the stability of the
bony structure,” and remaining silent about the warning bullet, while falsely suggesting an
equivalence between Norian XR and PMMA when there was none, and further omitting to state
that:

a. Synthes had conducted a “test market™ in which it had trained surgeons to

use Norian XR to treat VCFs;
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b. the pilot studies showed that the Norian cements appeared to be
thrombogenic agents; and

c. three patients had died on the operating table when spine surgeons had
used Norian XR off-label to treat VCFs.

These various statements and omissions were all made in order to: impair and
impede the FDA’s function of preventing unauthorized clinical trials, such as the unauthorized
clinical trial that defendant NORIAN and others were conducting with Norian XR; deceive the
FDA concerning defendant NORIAN and others’ off-label promotion of Norian XR and the
dangers posed by Norian XR; and deceive the doctors whom defendant NORIAN and others had
trained on the off-label use of Norian XR as to the doctors’ liability to their patients from whom
the doctors might not have obtained informed consent.

30. On or about March 24, 2004, defendant NORIAN and Synthes, through their
agent, a Synthes regulatory employee known to the United States Attorney, received an autopsy
report on the third death (“the autopsy report™) and forwarded the autopsy report to John J. Walsh
and others known to the United States Attorney.*

31.  On or about May 12, 2004, defendant NORIAN and Synthes, through a Synthes
Spine employee, made false and fraudulent statements to an investigator for the FDA, in that the
Synthes Spine employee denied that she had ever promoted the use of Norian XR off-label to
treat VCFs.

32. On or about May 19, 2004, defendant NORIAN and Synthes, through a Synthes

regulatory employee known to the United States Attorney, made false and fraudulent statements

“The autopsy report stated that the patient had a history of osteoporosis and a vertebral
compression fracture, for which a kyphoplasty surgery had been performed, and that at autopsy,
foreign material was found in the L2 vertebral body and in microscopic vessels of the lungs.
Despite the new information contained in the autopsy report, which had not been reported to the
FDA in the original MDR problem report, neither Synthes nor defendant NORIAN filed a
supplemental MDR problem report on the third death with the FDA or recalled or removed
Norian XR from the market before the FDA inspection.
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to an investigator for the FDA by stating that, in August 2003, Synthes did not have a
Vertebroplasty System.

33.  Onor about May 19, 2004, defendant NORIAN and Synthes, through a Synthes
Spine employee, made additional false and fraudulent statements to an investigator for the FDA,
in that the employee stated that in August 2003 Synthes did not have a Vertebroplasty System.

34.  Onor about May 20, 2004, defendant NORIAN and Synthes, through John J.
Walsh, made false and fraudulent statements to an investigator for the FDA, in that Walsh caused
to be presented to the FDA investigator a memorandum which stated, in part, that “[w]ith the
exceptions spelled out in the Warning and Contraindications section of the Instructions for Use,
the use of Norian XR in association with Vertebroplasty and Kyphoplasty does not constitute
‘off-label’ use. Many uses of Norian XR in association with Vertebroplasty and Kyphoplasty are
completely appropriate and ‘on-label.’”

3s. On or about May 27, 2004, defendant NORIAN and Synthes, through a Synthes
Spine employee, made false and fraudulent statements to an investigator for the FDA, in that the
employee characterized the summer 2002 “test market” for SRS in the spine as surgeons mixing
SRS with barium sulfate “on their own.”

36.  On or about June 2, 2004, defendant NORIAN and Synthes, through a Synthes
Spine employee, made false and fraudulent statements to an investigator for the FDA, in that the
employee told the investigator from the FDA that he did not know the process for mixing Norian
SRS with barium sulfate.

37. On or about June 7, 2004, defendant NORIAN and Synthes, through Michael D.
Huggins, made false and fraudulent statements to an investigator for the FDA, in that Huggins
told the investigator that the Norian XR “test market” discussed at the July 18, 2003 Safety

Meeting involved approved indications for Norian XR.
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38. On or about June 16, 2004, defendant NORIAN and Synthes, through Richard E.
Bohner, made false and fraudulent statements to an investigator for the FDA, in that Bohner told
the investigator that he knew nothing about a vertebroplasty “test market” for SRS.

39, On or about June 16, 2004, defendant NORIAN and Synthes, through Richard E.
Bohner, made false and fraudulent statements to an investigator for the FDA, in that Bohner told
the investigator that the 34 “test market” cases discussed at the July 18, 2003 Safety Meeting
involved only data that Synthes had collected from what surgeons were doing on their own,
rather than a test market conducted by Synthes.

40.  On or about June 22, 2004, Michael D. Huggins, Thomas B. Higgins, Richard E.
Bohner and John J. Walsh met with Synthes employees in order to plan a response to the FDA’s
483 observations made after the FDA inspection, resulting in the false claims by defendant

NORIAN and Synthes that:

a. the Norian XR “test market™ was for cleared indications, rather than the
treatment of VCFs;
b. the “test market” was not designed to obtain safety and efficacy

information from surgeons about use of Norian XR to treat VCFs; and
C. the two “test market” surgeon training meetings and the surgeon forum
had not trained surgeons how to use Norian XR to treat VCFs.

41.  Onor about July 2, 2004, in a writing submitted to the FDA on behalf of
defendant NORIAN and Synthes, John J. Walsh admitted that an IDE would be required if
defendant NORIAN and Synthes were seeking to “establish the safety and efficacy of new uses
for Norian XR. . .in the treatment of vertebral compression fractures,” but falsely stated that “at
the time of the test market activities,” defendant NORIAN and Synthes “did not . . . intend to
market [Norian XR] for the treatment of vertebral compression fractures. Additionally, it was

never our intent to suggest, in any way, that the product should be used for such purpose,” and
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that defendant NORIAN and Synthes “did not promote [Norian XR] for the[ ] off-label uses™ of
treating vertebral compression fractures.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.
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COUNT TWO
THE UNITED STATES ATTORNEY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:

L. The allegations of paragraphs one through 93 of Count One are incorporated here.
2. From on or about August 27, 2003, to on or about January 21, 2004, at West
Chester, in the Eastern District of Pennsylvania and elsewhere, defendant
SYNTHES, INC.,
introduced, and delivered for introduction into interstate commerce, and caused the introduction
and delivery of for introduction into interstate commerce, the Norian XR device, which was
adulterated and misbranded in the following ways:
(a) misbranded in that its labeling lacked adequate directions for use and it did
not qualify for an exemption to this requirement, 21 U.S.C. § 352(f)(1);
(b)  misbranded in that it failed to provide notice as required by 21 U.S.C.
§ 360(k) (510(k) of the FDCA), 21 U.S.C. § 352(0); and
(¢)  adulterated in that it required pre-market approval to be marketed for its
intended use, 21 U.S.C. § 351(f)(1)(B);
All in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 331(a) and 333(a)(1).
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COUNTS THREE THROUGH ONE HUNDRED TWELVE
THE UNITED STATES ATTORNEY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:
1. The allegations of paragraphs one through 93 of Count One are incorporated here.
2. On or about the dates listed below, at West Chester, in the Eastern District of
Pennsylvania and elsewhere, defendant
NORIAN CORPORATION,
with the intent to defraud or mislead, introduced, and delivered for introduction into interstate
commerce, and caused the introduction and delivery of for introduction into interstate commerce,
the below-listed device, namely Norian XR, which was adulterated and misbranded in the
following ways:
(@) misbranded in that its labeling lacked adequate directions for use and it did
not qualify for an exemption to this requirement, 21 U.S.C. § 352(f)(1);
(b)  misbranded in that it failed to provide notice as required by 21 U.S.C.
§ 360(k) (510(k) of the FDCA), 21 U.S.C. § 352(0); and
(c) adulterated in that it required pre-market approval to be marketed for its
intended use, 21 U.S.C. § 351(f)(1)(B);

as set out in each count below:

Count Ship To Shipment Date
3 San Ramon, CA 08/27/2003
4 Canyon, TX 08/27/2003
5 Plano, TX 08/27/2003
6 Owings Mills, MD 08/28/2003
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Count Ship To Shipment Date
7 Derby, KS 08/28/2003
8 Houston, TX 08/28/2003
9 San Diego, CA 08/28/2003
10 Windermere, FL 08/28/2003
11 Gig Harbor, WA 08/28/2003
12 Agoura Hills 08/28/2003
13 Amarillo, TX 09/02/2003
14 Amarillo, TX 09/03/2003
15 Walnut Creek, CA 09/04/2003
16 Walnut Creek, CA 09/04/2003
17 Plano, TX 09/09/2003
18 San Ramon, CA 09/15/2003
19 Owings Mills, MD 09/15/2003
20 Canyon, TX 09/15/2003
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Count Ship To Shipment Date
21 Derby, KS 09/15/2003
22 Houston, TX 09/15/2003
23 Windermere, FL 09/15/2003
24 Plano, TX 09/15/2003
25 San Diego, CA 09/15/2003
26 Gig Harbor, WA 09/15/2003
27 Agoura Hills 09/15/2003
28 San Ramon, CA 09/16/2003
29 San Ramon, CA 09/16/2003
30 Amarillo, TX 09/16/2003
31 Amarillo, TX 09/16/2003
32 San Diego, CA 09/16/2003
33 Agoura Hills 09/16/2003
34 Seattle, WA 09/16/2003
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Count Ship To Shipment Date
35 San Ramon, CA 09/17/2003
36 Wilkes-Barre, PA 09/17/2003
37 Houston, TX 09/18/2003
38 San Ramon, CA 09/24/2003
39 Seaford, NY 09/26/2003
40 San Diego, CA 09/26/2003
41 San Ramon, CA 09/29/2003
42 Houston, TX 09/30/2003
43 Gig Harbor, WA 09/30/2003
44 San Diego, CA 10/01/2003
45 Plano, TX 10/03/2003
46 Owings Mills, MD 10/06/2003
47 Derby, KS 10/07/2003
48 San Diego, CA 10/07/2003
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Count Ship To Shipment Date
49 Houston, TX 10/08/2003
50 San Diego, CA 10/08/2003
51 Canyon, TX 10/09/2003
52 Birmingham, AL 10/10/2003
53 Auburn, IN 10/10/2003
54 Mechanicsburg, PA 10/10/2003
55 San Diego, CA 10/13/2003
56 Plano, TX 10/14/2003
57 San Diego, CA 10/15/2003
58 Auburn, IN 10/16/2003
59 Derby, KS 10/20/2003
60 Plano, TX 10/23/2003
61 Houston, TX 10/24/2003
62 Plano, TX 10/28/2003
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Count Ship To Shipment Date
63 Houston, TX 10/28/2003
64 Seaford, NY 10/30/2003
65 Plano, TX 10/31/2003
66 San Diego, CA 10/31/2003
67 San Diego, CA 10/31/2003
68 Seaford, NY 11/03/2003
69 Seaford, NY 11/03/2003
70 Auburn, IN 11/03/2003
71 Mechanicsburg, PA 11/05/2003
72 Gig Harbor, WA 11/06/2003
73 Auburn, IN 11/07/2003
74 San Diego, CA 11/07/2003
75 Amarillo, TX 11/11/2003
76 Mechanicsburg, PA 11/12/2003
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Count Ship To Shipment Date
77 Plano, TX 11/13/2003
78 Birmingham, AL 11/14/2003
79 Auburn, IN 11/17/2003
80 San Diego, CA 11/19/2003
81 Houston, TX 11/20/2003
82 Auburn, IN 11/21/2003
83 Derby, KS 11/24/2003
84 Seaford, NY 12/01/2003
85 Auburn, IN 12/04/2003
86 Plano, TX 12/11/2003
87 Windermere, FL 12/12/2003
88 Mechanicsburg, PA 12/15/2003
89 Mechanicsburg, PA 12/19/2003
90 Auburn, IN 12/22/2003
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Count

Ship To

Shipment Date

91 Mechanicsburg, PA 12/22/2003
92 Plano, TX 12/23/2003
93 Derby, KS 12/29/2003
94 Auburn, IN 12/29/2003
95 San Ramon, CA 12/31/2003
96 Owings Mills, MD 12/31/2003
97 Seaford, NY 12/31/2003
98 Birmingham, AL 12/31/2003
99 Canyon, TX 12/31/2003
100 Derby, KS 12/31/2003
101 Houston, TX 12/31/2003
102 Auburn, IN 12/31/2003
103 Windermere, FL 12/31/2003
104 Mechanicsburg, PA 12/31/2003
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Count Ship Te Shipment Date
105 Plano, TX 12/31/2003
106 San Diego, CA 12/31/2003
107 Gig Harbor, WA 12/31/2003
108 Walnut Creek, CA 01/08/2004
109 Walnut Creek, CA 01/14/1004
110 Plano, TX 01/20/2004
111 Plano, TX 01/20/2004
112 Walnut Creek, CA 01/21/2004

All in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 331(a) and 333(a)(1).
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NOTICE OF FORFEITURE
1. As a result of the violations of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 331
and 333, set forth in Counts Two through One Hundred Twelve of this Information, defendants

SYNTHES, INC.,, and
NORIAN CORPORATION,

shall forfeit to the United States of America any property constituting, or derived from, proceeds
obtained directly or indirectly as the result of the violations of Title 21, United States Code,
Sections 331 and 333, as charged in this Indictment, including, but not limited to, the sum of
$469,800.
2. If any of the property subject to forfeiture, as a result of any act or omission of the
defendants:
a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;

c. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court;

d. has been substantially diminished in value; or

e. has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided without
difficulty,

it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(b),
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incorporating 21 U.S.C. § 853(p), to seek forfeiture of any other property of the defendants up to
the value of the property subject to forfeiture.

All pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(2).

ZANE DAVID MEMEGE
United States Attorney
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